
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

______________, Individually and On
Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated,

Plaintiff,

v.

RESOURCE CAPITAL CORP, INC.,
JONATHAN COHEN, and DAVE
BRYANT

Defendants.

Case No.:

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR
VIOLATIONS OF THE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff _______________ (“Plaintiff”), by and through her attorneys, alleges the

following upon information and belief, except as to those allegations concerning Plaintiff, which

are alleged upon personal knowledge. Plaintiff’s information and belief is based upon, among

other things, her counsel’s investigation, which includes without limitation: (a) review and

analysis of regulatory filings made by Resource Capital Corp. Inc., ( hereinafter “RSO”

“Resource Capital” or the “Company”), with the United States (“U.S.”) Securities and Exchange

Commission (“SEC”); (b) review and analysis of press releases and media reports issued by and

disseminated by RSO; and (c) review of other publicly available information concerning RSO.

INTRODUCTION TO AND BACKGROUND OF ACTION



This is a class action on behalf of persons and entities that acquired RSO securities

between March 3, 2016, and November 11, 2016, inclusive (the “Class Period”), against the

Defendants, seeking to pursue remedies under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the

“Exchange Act”).

1. RSO is a real estate investment trust that is primarily focused on originating, holding

and managing commercial mortgage loans and other commercial real estate-related

debt and often termed an “mREIT.” Although similar to traditional REITS, the metrics

used to gauge the dividend sustainability of the mREITS and REITs are not necessarily

identical. RSO's commercial portfolio is comprised of 88 individual loans with an

aggregate committed balance of approximately $1.8 billion, and this comprised of 99%

self originated whole loans and 1% mezzanine loans. The underlying collateral base

securing RSO's commercial mortgage portfolio continues to be spread across the

specified asset categories. A summary portfolio breakdown follows: 42% multifamily,

21% office, 19% retail, 16% hotel and 2% other, such as mixed-use deals Here

AFFO’s use of RSO served to deceive, not enlighten shareholders.

2. Unfortunately and unbeknownst to RSO shareholders, RSO’s underlying collateral base

securing RSO's portfolio was suffering from adverse market trends as the value of its

assets had seriously decayed when combined with paying out rich the dividends, RSO

was on the verge of a major impairment it would need to conceal as long as feasibly

possible, as its assets and reporting of their values grossly overstated GAAP.

3. Defendants baited shareholders with rich dividends, causing RSO’s share price to trade

at artificially inflated levels, up to ___ per share. These price levels were not



representative of the true value of RSO’s shares, due to amongst other things. reporting

and emphasizing AFFO when communicating with the RSO shareholder community

including Wall Street analysts who routinely could not follow defendants AFFO

reporting as AFFO is actually non GAAP metric but also AFFO is inapplicable to

RSO’s dividend sustainability as RSO operates as an mREIT.

4. AFFO, and the understanding of its relevance in RSO’s statements was forever

morphing, One quarter it added even more permutations of AFFO which left analysts

baffled. In fact Wall Street analysts, had difficulty in reconciling Defendants’ own

calculation of AFFO and could often consume Quarterly Conference Calls with trying

to reconcile how RSO reported its AFFO metrics or explained why even more

permutations of the same were in its financials. AFFO is a non GAAP metric and

RSO inappropriately used and abused this metric to mislead shareholders in its

financial reporting.

5. Since the AFFO was not only growing but a larger number, it became necessary for

Defendants to continually depend upon when issuing RSO’s quarterly reports. Even

Defendants became dependent on reporting AFFO, much like a drug. Defendants used

AFFO to bolster share prices as if it was their own personal heroin. Combined with

their proclamation of continued and grossly unsustainable dividends, albeit knowing

full well these rich dividends, would eventually hit rock bottom if Defendants failed to

clean up their accounting, slash the dividend it could ill afford to pay, but would not or

could stop. But much like any junkie, RSO repeatedly made as many grandiose and

false claims in order to buy themselves a fix until the next quarter. And like many in



their position, failed to deliver on their core promise of $1.68 dividend, for Q4 2016

and 2017, for the foreseeable future as 2017 too was slashed to a nickel.

6. Throughout the Class Period and for the past 3 years, RSO found its own use of AFFO

to convince shareholders of the metric's applicability, which in RSO’s case, appeared

to support Defendants' claim AFFO demonstrated the sustainability of RSO’s dividend

as the shares were continued to be bid up in response to Defendants false claims as

RSO’s dividend model was unsustainable and its solvency issues were beginning to

surface. Specifically, RSO’s dividends were merely cloaked as dividends (at least by

name). In truth, Defendants padded these rich and unsustainable so-called dividend

payouts with RSO’s own capital. In so doing, Defendants created the illusion that

RSO was a successful mREIT, a fallacy best.

7. In truth, over the previous 3 years, only 22% of the dividends paid had been a “return

on capital.” Thus, these dividends were mostly a “return of RSO’s capital” creating a

short finite life span for RSO unless it abruptly gutted the dividend and declared its

goals of returning to profitability of prior years was not feasible, not only now but even

for 2017 and possibly into 2018. Adding to RSO’s dividend issues was the severe

deteriorating quality of earnings, cash flows and overstated valuations of assets,

Defendants knew RSO’s rich dividends paid out thus far were not just unsustainable,

they would need to be drastically slashed, if not eliminated, were RSO to avoid

bankruptcy.

SUMMARY OF ACTION

8. At the beginning of the Class Period, Defendants attempted to boost the share higher,

well above its fair value, vis-a vis the “set dividend.” Defendants even went so far as to “set the



dividend” at astonishing and increasing amount above previous periods. Commenting on RSO’s

dividend payout Defendants stated “we feel good about the [$1.68 dividend].”

9. Despite proclaiming and continue paying the ill fated dividend to shareholders, with tens

of millions of assets impaired and concealed, Defendants claimed this would allow the purchase

of RSO shares well below its then current and prospective value proclaiming this ex-dividend

process: “[gave them] the ability to buy back [RSO] shares at a massive discount.”

10. Defendants even took this a step further, claiming to shower shareholders who

maintained or increased their RSO holdings with fruits of Defendant's plan, which was “to grow

book value and increase profitability for those who remain in the stock.”

11. Worse, Defendants sought to and did report “AFFO” throughout the Class Period as a

means to mislead shareholders concerning RSO’s asset base, decaying marketplace together with

the sustainability of the massive dividend payouts. AFFO is a metric inapplicable to RSO’s

business model as an mREIT, which created an illusion of prosperity despite RSO’s dividends’

unsustainability. Defendants abused this non-GAAP metric, as AFFO was not applicable to

RSO’s business model. Defendants use of AFFO reporting was used merely to distort RSO’s

dividends’ sustainability.

12. Defendants also violated GAAP by failing to timely write down the values of impaired

assets Defendants used the delay as a means of artificially propping up financial results

artificially throughout the Class Period. Specifically, RSO also used improper and grossly

flawed/reckless valuation techniques to test real estate for impairments. For example, these

flawed tests merely concealed the impairments with respect to RSO’s Studio City, California and

Tucson, Arizona assets. Theses valuations of these particular assets were manipulated and

artfully, artificially inflated vis-a vis, using a BPO or “broker’s opinion” to assert no impairment



existed (when impairments were clearly present). Thus, instead of marking the asset to its

market value with a genuine third party appraisal as required by GAAP, RSO’s interest in a

CDO and 2 of its CRE legacy loans were materially overstated, albeit concealed from

shareholders, by tens of millions of dollars throughout the Class Period. Neither the CDO nor

CRE had not been properly valued or otherwise appraised, resulting in revelations of

impairments a $20.7M and 8.1m, respectively, totaling nearly $29 million. This was only the

beginning.

13. In addition RSO revealed that its carrying other assets on its financial statements are

admittedly are worth far less than as stated on the balance sheet. As RSO would conceded on the

last day of the end of the Class Period, that in addition to the above impairments, RSO will

recognize further impairments of $11 to $14 million on other assets which remain on RSO’s

balance sheet which are earmarked for sale. Incredibly, Defendants conceded that the sale of

these additional assets it intends to divest, could take all of 12 to 18 months (2017 to 2018) to

sell due to the illiquid market which RSO months earlier claimed was “ still an incredibly

competitive marketplace.”

14. Hence, even with the present write downs at the end of the Class Period, the valuations of

assets yet to be sold into the market exceed the actual market value of these particular assets,

which RSO anticipates reaping upon the sale of these additional nonperforming assets as this

could take until 2018 to liquidate, far from the liquid or competitive market defendants

described.

15. Thus throughout the Class Period, Defendants made materially false and misleading

statements regarding the Company’s business, operational and compliance policies. Defendants



made false and/or misleading statements and/or failed to disclose that: (1) the Company’s

business was deteriorating; (2) the Company’s dividend policy was flawed and unsustainable; (3)

that the Company had overstated its full-year 2016 guidance together with multiple GAAP

violations, by among other things, failing to properly value its assets including using broker’s

opinion vs. third party valuations overstated by tens of millions of dollars(4 ) and that due to the

deterioration of its assets RSO would likely have zero taxable income in 2017 (5) the use of

AFFO was inappropriate and deceptive and Defendants used this non mob mi

16. GAAP accounting metric to mislead and distort the sustainability of the dividend and

was not a metric appropriately used for reporting RSO’s financial results and (6) that, as a

result of the foregoing, Defendants’ statements about RSO’s business, operations, dividends and

prospects, were false and misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis.

17. On November 11, 2016, the last day of the Class Period, RSO finally slashed and gutted

the dividend by over 84% ( $1.68 per year all the way down to a nickel per quarter) even in the

face horrible projections for RSO’s FY 2017 of negligible (if any) income and the possibility of

liquidating its earmarked nonperforming assets could take from 2016 to 2018, to liquidate

resulting in even more drastic impairments. The Company also revealed that its inflated assets in

Tucson, Phoenix and Studio City were overstated to the tune of tens of millions of dollars and

that RSO would eliminate AFFO as a reporting metric, sending RSO shares tumbling.

Specifically on the above news the Company’s shares fell $4 per share, or nearly 33%, to close at

$8.72 per share on November 13, 2016.



18. Following the disastrous Q3 conference call, gutting the dividend to a mere $.05, a

fraction of $ 1.68 Class Period dividend.“We understand that these losses are painful to

investors…” Waves of downgrades of RSO immediately followed.

19. As a result of Defendants’ wrongful acts and omissions, and the precipitous decline in the

market value of the Company’s securities, Plaintiff and other Class members have suffered

significant losses and damages.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

20. The claims asserted herein arise under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act (15

U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 78t(a)) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the SEC (17 C.F.R. §

240.10b-5).

21. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §

1331 and Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa).

22. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and Section 27

of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa(c)). Substantial acts in furtherance of the alleged fraud

or the effects of the fraud have occurred in this Judicial District. Many of the acts charged

herein, including the dissemination of materially false and/or misleading information, occurred

in substantial part in this Judicial District, as RSO is headquartered in this district.

23. In connection with the acts, transactions, and conduct alleged herein, Defendants directly

and indirectly used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including the United

States mail, interstate telephone communications, and the facilities of a national securities

exchange.

PARTIES



24. Plaintiff, as set forth in the accompanying certification, incorporated by reference

herein, purchased RSO common stock during the Class Period, and suffered damages

as a result of the federal securities law violations and false and/or misleading

statements and/or material omissions alleged herein.

25. Defendant Resource Capital Corp. principal executive offices are located in New York,

New York RSO’s common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the

symbol “RSO.”

26. Defendant Jonathan Cohen (Cohen) has served at relevant times as the Company’s Chief

Executive Officer and President. Effective September 8, 2016 Jonathan Z. Cohen resigned from

his positions as the Chief Executive Officer and President of Resource Capital Corp. (the

"Company").

27. Defendant Dave Bryant (“Bryant”) served at all relevant times as the Company’s Chief

Financial Officer (”CFO”)

28. Defendants Cohen and Bryant (collectively the “Individual Defendants”), because of

their positions with the Company, possessed the power and authority to control the contents of

RSO’s reports to the SEC, press releases and presentations to securities analysts, money and

portfolio managers and institutional investors, i.e., the market. The Individual Defendants were

provided with copies of the Company’s reports and press releases alleged herein to be misleading

prior to, or shortly after, their issuance and had the ability and opportunity to prevent their

issuance or cause them to be corrected. Because of their positions and access to material non-

public information available to them, the Individual Defendants knew that the adverse facts

specified herein had not been disclosed to, and were being concealed from, the public, and that



the positive representations which were being made were then materially false and/or

misleading. The Individual Defendants are liable for the false statements pleaded herein.

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

i.

Materially False and Misleading
Statements Issued During the Class Period

29. The Class Period begins on March 3, 2016, on that day the Company issued a press

release for Q4 while Defendants Cohen and Bryant commenting on the state of the RSO’s share

value and also reiterating guidance of at least $2.65 per share of AFFO and at least $1.60 per

share of GAAP net income for 2016.

30. In the conference call following the May 3rd, 2016 press release, Defendant Cohen

reemphasized the mantra of RSO and the quality of its assets, absence of defaults, together with

its financial strength and validated its so called “credit first” approach:

“Our core lending philosophy still places the ultimate premium on asset quality location

and business plan with a significant focus on sponsor experience and financial strength.

This quarter I'm again pleased to report that the entire commercial real estate loan

portfolio is performing with no defaults. The positive performance of our portfolio is a

daily reminder that validates the credit-first approach to our lending and the selectivity we

apply to markets, asset classes and sponsors in our origination process.”

------------------------



Dave Bryant,, commented on the quality of RSO’s credit and asset quality, stating::

We passed all of the interest coverage and over-collateralization tests in each of our
securitizations that require such tests. Including our two legacy real estate CDOs and one
remaining bank loan CLO. Our three most recent securitizations in real estate are subject
only to over-collateralization tests, which we have passed.

Each of these structured finance vehicles did very well and produced healthy cash flow to
us in Q4. We now have total capacity of $650 million on our real estate term facilities and
availability of $425 million at December 31. We saw a robust new home loan production
from our origination team continue in Q4, again totaling $255 million for the 12 months --
for the quarter, I'm sorry -- and $744 million on a trailing 12 months basis and $1.5 billion
on a trailing 24 months basis. And this core business is providing us with certain benefits.
First, we have a strong track record with the credit quality on our originated commercial
real estate loans which now comprise 99% of our current portfolio.

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Jonathan Cohen,, commented on the strength of the underlying market of RSO’s assets while

denying any evidence of credit deterioration while RSOs revealed as follows:

”And I would add just globally from our entire real estate business including our equity

business that sellers, not us in this case but anecdotally, sellers that have not adjusted their

cap rates, that has not happened yet and it's still an incredibly competitive marketplace.”

Jade Rahmani, Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc. - Analyst [9]



Can you just comment on quarter over quarter commercial real estate credit quality in the

portfolio? Are there any changes in perhaps your watch list, just how did the risk rating

migration change sequentially, and are you seeing any evidence of a pickup in credit

deterioration?

Jonathan Cohen, Resource Capital Corporation - President & CEO [10]

Quite to the contrary, the fourth quarter we saw a record payoffs, things are transacting, it

was a, if the market was certainly choppy, things -- we saw deals go at incredibly tight cap

rates, and so our watch list has remained exactly the same, but we have seen sponsors

continuing to hit their plans.

Real estate fundamentals as we are seeing them, like I said remain largely in check and that

record amount of payoffs we saw in Q4 bears that out.

-

Jonathan Cohen, further commenting on the company's immediate return to profitability, albeit

while paying out a dividend funded by capital vs. return on capital claiming RSO was on the

verge of returning to its profitability it achieved 9 months earlier

“Thanks Steve, as I said in my comments, we think it is very close to standing on its own

and I think I quote, unquote said, It will be well positioned to be viewed on its own. I think

that as we get it to profit, back to profitability which we were profitable about nine months



ago, we added a lot of people to expand operation, markets changed a little bit, we're

getting back to that profitability, as is it is profitable which we expect in the next, in fact it

may have been profitable in February. We don't know, but given the amount of activity it

did, but really on an ongoing basis starting in June, we will be looking to have it viewed on

its own and we do not want to really expand on that much but you can take from that what

you will.”

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Steve DeLaney, JMP Securities -

My final thing, I look at the guidance for AFFO that you affirmed today of $2.65, and

obviously that will probably be incrementally increasing quarter to quarter, but it would

average about $0.66 which is 35% higher than the normalized AFFO of $0.49 in the fourth

quarter. Had we think about that as far as the two or three key drivers that are going to

cause AFFO to go up so much in 2016?

Jonathan Cohen, commenting on the byzantine non GAAP metrics like AFFO drivers which

analysts who followed RSO had issues reconciling due to its inapplicability and distorted

dividend sustainability:



Remember that in there is some cash gains on the extinguishment of debt that is flowing

through, so I really would not look at although it will be $2.65, it will be number probably

north of $2 but not $2.65. There will be other gains in there that will be, although they will

go on for a while -- so we really look at it that we've keyed our dividends to be somewhere

right around net income.

Steve DeLaney, JMP Securities -

That helps a Jonathan, so while $2.65 is projected to be the number, I think I'm hearing

you say there are going to be some special recognitions that you would not consider normal,

so $0.66 average is not necessarily normal run rate.

Jonathan Cohen, explained why Defendants set the dividend at an outrageous 1.68 per share,

stating this in turn allowed Defendants buy more shares at a “massive discount.

“ Yes, that is why we set the dividend to $1.68, we feel good about that. It maintains book

value while giving us the ability to buy back our shares at a massive discount. We should

grow book value and increase profitability for those who remain in the stock.”

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------



Defendants Cohen and Bryant further responded to questions concerning Defendant's use of yet

another permutation of AFFO. A new AFFO metric, normalized AFFO further adding confusion

as over this reporting metric Defendants were manufacturing as necessary to maintain the

artificial share price.

Dan Altscher, FBR Capital Markets - I just wanted to clarify just quickly on Steve's last

question regarding the guidance, the $1.60 and the $1.65, those guidance is based upon the

new adjusted EPS and the normalized AFFO, or are those kind of a stated?

Jonathan Cohen, Resource Capital Corporation -

I am sorry, that is actually EPS.

Dan Altscher, FBR Capital Markets - So the $1.60 is the GAAP expected EPS?

Defendant Jonathan Cohen, replied

“That is your just normal GAAP EPS. The reason we normalized and we just felt like there

were so many one-time accounting issues that had come up that were hitting the business

that were in core. We wanted to be transparent to the marketplace. It is not our intent at

this point to have that as a new metric that we use.”

Dan Altscher, FBR Capital Markets -

So the adjusted is not a new metric, it is just kind of a one-time, we'll see it today but not

going to see it next quarter?



Jonathan Cohen, Resource Capital Corporation - Exactly. Unless there is something that

we feel like we have to tell you about on the positive or the negative side so that you can get

a sense of what our core recurring businesses is.

Dan Altscher, FBR Capital Markets - Analyst [40]

And similarly with the AFFO guidance of $2.65 that is the stated AFFO and not the

normalized, which is also one of these things where we have a normalized number this

quarter but we will not see that again next quarter?

Jonathan Cohen, Resource Capital Corporation - President & CEO [41]

Exactly, that is the stated AFFO.

All of the properties are performing above pro forma. We had a sale, one of the properties

traded in the fourth quarter, paying us minimum interest and an exit fee.

Again the type of properties that we have focused on there and certainly it has held up, has

been in-fill, value add B multifamily deals, where there is still significant demand for

people to work in the medical center and other service to businesses where we are certainly

not talking about anything else, but these are very nice communities and they are

performing very well.

***************************************



Dave Bryant in an attempt to further reaffirm the micro impairment it took in the quarter were

both small and isolated incidents and no longer an issue, dismissing them as de minimis while

claiming RSO’s counsel did not allow them to elaborate or discuss the impairments further, as

stated below:

Our lawyers have told us we cannot comment on that so I apologize about that, but we are

just not allowed. I just want to make sure that the audience knows that the impairments

that we have had in the dribs and drabs were all in the non-commercial real estate business

and were isolated to small positions that unfortunately due to accounting or due to other

reasons had to be marked down. And Jade, I'm sorry, I can't comment on that.

Jennifer Wong, LDR Capital Management -

We see that -- and appreciate that you have been actively buying back the common shares,

just wanted to hear your thoughts on your, on what you would like to do with your

preferreds which are also trading at pretty big discounts to your par value.

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------



Jonathan Cohen,] explained “they wanted to buy more stock back than they did but the capital

was earmarked for loans and subject to liquidity, another 40 million in buybacks was being

planned as its shares were “super cheap.”

“We actually didn't buy back as much as we wanted to in the fourth quarter, and that is

due to the fact that a lot of people set on loans that we had already committed to before the

end of the year in all of our businesses, that is a traditional thing that happens. You will see

us as we said buying back $40 million -- at least $40 million in our plan today subject to

liquidity etc.”

“In corporate securities, they may or may not include preferred stock. We obviously feel

like that is an area that is super cheap as well as our common stock.”

On March 16, 2016, Resource Capital Approves $50M Securities Buyback Program,

Defendants issued a press release entitled “Resource Capital Approves $50M Securities Buyback

Program.” In what Defendants described as a notable development,” the board of directors of

Resource Capital Corp. RSO has authorized a new securities repurchase program for a maximum

amount of $50 million. Of this, $16.5 million capacity remains available under the New York-

based mortgage real estate investment trust’s (“mREIT”) current securities repurchase program.

Thus a total of 66.6 million remaining current securities repurchase program.

31. On-Mar 17, 2016 - Resource Capital Corp. ( NYSE : RSO ) (the "Company") announced

that its Board of Directors has a cash dividend of $0.42 per common share for the quarter ending



March 31, 2016. The dividend will be paid on April 28, 2016 to holders of record on March 31,

2016.

32. On May 3, 2016, the Company issued a press release announcing first quarter results for

the period ended March 31, 2016. Defendants during the conference call attested to its lending

philosophy places the ultimate premium on asset quality, location, and business plan with

significant focus on sponsor experience and financial strength together with Defendants buy back

of RSO shares and optimism about growing net interest margins and overall profitability in a

meaningful way with Defendant Cohen commenting: “We are again actively building a

forward pipeline of new loan opportunities and look forward to returning to a normalized

pace of originations, ramping up through the second quarter. We currently anticipate 2016

origination volume to be between $400 million and $600 million.”

“The wall of maturities from 2006 and 2007 CMBS loans will surely drive transaction

volume for the next few years as many assets will trade to value-add buyers. In addition,

the uncertain execution in the CMBS market is driving many owners with high-quality,

stabilized properties away from long-term financing and towards short-term financing

with certainty of execution.”

---------------------

Defendant Cohen commented on the quality of the markets vis a vis the Company’s assets it

intended to sell:



Real estate fundamentals have remained largely in check, and we see an increase in

demand for our core floating-rate bridge loan program. At this point, we feel the market is

clearly moving towards us.

With market fundamentals playing in our favor, and the proven abeyance our loans in

either CRE CLOs, or on facilities provided by our commercial banking partners, as RSO

continues to allocate more capital to the core CRE platform, we are optimistic about

growing net interest margins and overall profitability in a meaningful way.”

Cohen highlighting RSO’s core lending philosophy as follows:

Our primary focus remains, as always, on credit. Our core lending philosophy places the

ultimate premium on asset quality, location, and business plan with significant focus on

sponsor experience and financial strength. Once again this quarter, RSO's commercial real

estate loan portfolio is performing with no defaults.

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Dave Bryant, commenting on the absence of impairments and loan losses and attesting to the

continued strength of the dividend, stated:



Resource Capital Corp. declared and paid a cash dividend for the first quarter of $0.42 per

common share. Our adjusted funds from operations, or AFFO, for the quarter was $14.7

million, or $0.47 per common share, a payout ratio of 89%.

In determining AFFO for the first quarter, there were several non-cash adjustments that

netted to approximately $5 million. These non-cash items included amortization of deferred

costs and discounts on our convertible senior notes, valuation reserves or residential

mortgage origination mortgage servicing rights, and adjustments related to share-based

compensation.

The deconsolidation of our two legacy real estate CDOs, RREF 2006 and RREF 2007, and

our one remaining bank loan CDO, Apidos Cinco, resulted in a reclassification of the

assets, interest rate swaps and debt held at December 31 to what is essentially a net amount

representing available for sale securities held in each CDO. Accordingly, we recorded the

required adjustments for estimated fair value through retained earnings, and will record

income on a net effective yield basis on these investments going forward.

We now have total capacity of $650 million on our real estate term facilities and availability

of $392 million We pass all of the interest coverage and over collateralization tests in each

of our securitizations that require these tests, including the deconsolidated real estate

CDOs and remaining bank loan CLO. Our three most recent securitizations, one in 2014

and two in 2015, are subject only to over-collateralization tests which we have comfortably



passed. These structured finance vehicles again performed well and produced healthy cash

flow to us in the first quarter.

We have a strong track record with the credit quality on our originated real estate loans.

In Q1, we booked provisions for loan losses of $37,000. We ended the period with $1.5

million in commercial real estate allowances and $2.7 million in middle-market loan

allowances.

In terms of delinquencies, all of our $322 million middle market loans are current and as

Dave Bloom mentioned, each of our real estate loans are current with respect to debt

service payment.

In addition to the common shares repurchased during the period, we repurchased RSO

preferred series B preferred stock during Q1, which provided a $0.05 benefit to common

share earnings as we retired those shares.

We look forward to continuing to implement the stock buyback plan in 2016 as liquidity

allows us, and as we continue to trade well below book value on our common and preferred

stock. We have relatively low leverage and are substantially match funded with non

recourse floating-rate term financing on the vast majority of our lending platform.

33. On August 3, 2016, RSO reported AFFO for the three and six months ended June 30,

2016 of $14.5 million, or $0.48 per share-diluted and $29.2 million, or $0.95 per share-diluted as



compared to $20.1 million, or $0.61 per share-diluted and $41.3 million, or $1.26 per share-

diluted for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015. GAAP net income (loss) allocable to

common shares for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 was $(1.5) million, or $(0.05)

per share-diluted and $8.1 million, or $0.26 per share-diluted as compared to net losses of

$(31.0) million, or $(0.94) per share-diluted and $(21.6) million, or $(0.66) per share-diluted for

the three and six months ended June 30, 2015. Commenting on the results, Defendant Cohen

reiterated: “I believe is a consistent focus on credit quality, high underwriting standards,

diligent management of our investments. Our leverage remains low and we have an

experienced and dedicated management team that will carefully monitor our risk while

continuing to look forward to paying this meaningful dividend.”

In addition to the liquidation of our first real estate securitization in April, we anticipate

recycling capital from our remaining legacy CRE CDO and legacy bank loan CLO over the

next 6 to 18 months, each of which will provide us substantial cash upon liquidation.”

Defendant Bryant reaffirmed RSOs focus on credit quality and quality, stating

“Our selective reuse of the recycled capital will help us grow our real estate portfolio and

improve core earnings quality with our complete focus on credit quality.”

Jonathan Cohen, commenting on Q2, reiterated RSO’s goal of continuing to pay “this

meaningful dividend” north of $1.60 per annum. “We are implementing our strategy at RSO

and as always maintain what I believe is a consistent focus on credit quality, high

underwriting standards, diligent management of our investments. Our leverage remains



low and we have an experienced and dedicated management team that will carefully

monitor our risk while continuing to look forward to paying this meaningful dividend.”

34. On Sep 19, 2016 - Resource Capital Corp. ( NYSE : RSO ) (the "Company") announced

today that its Board of Directors has declared a cash dividend of $0.42 per common share for the

quarter ending September 30, 2016. The dividend will be paid on October 28, 2016 to holders of

record on September 30, 2016.

35. The above statements contained in ¶¶_____ were materially false and/or misleading, as

well as failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company’s business, operations, and

prospects..Defendants made false and/or misleading statements and/or failed to disclose that: (1)

the Company’s business was deteriorating; (2) the Company’s dividend policy was flawed and

unsustainable; (3) that the Company had overstated its full-year 2016 guidance together with

multiple GAAP violations, by among other things, failing to properly value its assets including

using broker’s opinion vs. third party valuations overstated by tens of millions of dollars(4 ) and

that due to the deterioration of its assets RSO would likely have zero taxable income in 2017 (5)

the use of AFFO was inappropriate and deceptive and Defendants used this non GAAP

accounting metric to mislead and distort the sustainability of the dividend and was not a metric

appropriately used for reporting RSO’s financial results and (6) that, as a result of the

foregoing, Defendants’ statements about RSO’s business, operations, dividends and prospects,

were false and misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis.

Corrective Disclosures at the End of the Class Period



36. On November 14, 2016, RSO shocked investors when it slashed its dividend to .05 per

share (or over 84%) and revealed its assets were overstated by tens of millions of dollars as

impairments to its Bp financial statements. Further that RSO disclosed RSO anticipates further

impairments as these assets when sold would not fetch values now stated. Defendants further

conceded to eliminate using non GAAP metrics such as using “ AFFO” as a means of confusing

shareholders would be immediately halted, stating: “We will no longer use AFFO as our

measure of operating performance and we will move to a core earnings metric.”. AFFO as

metric is not only inapplicable to RSO, it further distorted the dividend’s sustainability

appearance, in commenting on the changing metrics, impairments and further impairments and

performance to be taken in Q4 and FY 2017. RSO’s plans to shore up its finances by first

taking this massive impairment against earnings, future impairments and issues with prior AFFO

reporting “Our plan candidly is to simplify the Company and make it more understandable

for investors and improve the transparency of RSO’s performance. We're going to do this

by disposing of underperforming assets, divesting non-core businesses and investing solely

in CRE asset that produce consistent recurring cash flows and pay dividends out of

earnings and not just out of cash that’s on the balance sheet.”

37. “And we began our process started by evaluating the CRE loan portfolio for credit

impairments and establishing estimated fair value adjustments for assets and businesses we

intend to monetize, as well as to determine the impact of the strategy on our deferred tax

asset. The financial impact of the result of this process is a $51.6 million GAAP lost for the

third quarter and an anticipated write-down to fourth quarter earnings of $11 million to

$14 million.”



38. “The fourth quarter write-downs are comprised in the following items; $7 million to

$9 million will be associated with moving certain legacy real estate loans to held for sale

status. These are loans that have underperformed the business plan and the risk weighted

return is no longer attractive. And additional $3 million to $4 million is related to reclassify

the businesses that we intend to exit as held for sale. It is important to note that we are not

required to exit these businesses and will not unless we receive a purchase price in line with

our expectations. Additionally $1 million is due to reclassify middle market lending of the

discontinued operation as we no longer plan on allocating capital to originating or

acquiring syndicated corporate bank loans. We plan on letting this portfolio run off

naturally over the next year and will be opportunistic sellers to the extent we can realize

proceeds around book value. “We understand that these losses are painful to investors…”

39. During the conference Q3 call that followed, RSO agreed to strip AFFO reporting in

RSO’s financial statements and made several other disclosures shocking the RSO shareholder

community and revealed the Company's prior conduct together with the deteriorating assets

would nullify the :

“We will no longer use AFFO as our measure of operating performance and we will move

to a core earnings metric.”

“RSO may not have any REIT taxable income for calendar year 2017. “

“We think it’s important to pay a dividend, but the dividend that we're paying is not one
that’s targeted to a specific level of core earnings for 2017.”

“The timing of the resolution of the monetization of these different assets and the
redeployment of that capital into our business plan as you can all imagine is uncertain and
we expect that again 2017 will be lumpy and we're optimistic that 2018 will be in a better
path to report a core earnings metric to the market.”



40. On this news the Company’s shares fell $4 per share, or nearly 33%, to close at $8 per

share on November 14, 2016.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

41. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure

23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a class, consisting of all persons and entities that acquired RSO’s

securities between March 3, 2016, and November 11, 2016, inclusive, and who were damaged

thereby (the “Class”). Excluded from the Class are Defendants, the officers and directors of the

Company, at all relevant times, members of their immediate families and their legal

representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns, and any entity in which Defendants have or had a

controlling interest.

42. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.

Throughout the Class Period, RSO’s common stock actively traded on the NYSE. While the

exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this time and can only be ascertained

through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes that there are at least hundreds or thousands of

members in the proposed Class. Millions of RSO shares were traded publicly during the Class

Period on the NYSE. As of September 30, 2016, the Company had ____shares of common stock

outstanding. Record owners and other members of the Class may be identified from records

maintained by RSO or its transfer agent and may be notified of the pendency of this action by

mail, using the form of notice similar to that customarily used in securities class actions.

43. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all members of

the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of federal law that

is complained of herein.



44. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class and

has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.

45. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and predominate

over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the questions of

law and fact common to the Class are:

(a) whether the federal securities laws were violated by Defendants’ acts as alleged

herein;

(b) whether statements made by Defendants to the investing public during the Class

Period omitted and/or misrepresented material facts about the business, operations, and prospects

of RSO; and

(c) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the proper

measure of damages.

46. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as

the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and

burden of individual litigation makes it impossible for members of the Class to individually

redress the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as

a class action.

UNDISCLOSED ADVERSE FACTS

47. The market for RSO’s securities was open, well-developed and efficient at all relevant

times. As a result of these materially false and/or misleading statements, and/or failures to

disclose, RSO’s securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period. Plaintiff

and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired RSO’s securities relying upon



the integrity of the market price of the Company’s securities and market information relating to

RSO, and have been damaged thereby.

48. During the Class Period, Defendants materially misled the investing public, thereby

inflating the price of RSO’s securities, by publicly issuing false and/or misleading statements

and/or omitting to disclose material facts necessary to make Defendants’ statements, as set forth

herein, not false and/or misleading. The statements and omissions were materially false and/or

misleading because they failed to disclose material adverse information and/or misrepresented

the truth about RSO’s business, operations, and prospects as alleged herein.

49. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions particularized in this

Complaint directly or proximately caused or were a substantial contributing cause of the

damages sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class. As described herein, during the

Class Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and/or

misleading statements about RSO’s financial well-being and prospects. These material

misstatements and/or omissions had the cause and effect of creating in the market an

unrealistically positive assessment of the Company and its financial well-being and prospects,

thus causing the Company’s securities to be overvalued and artificially inflated at all relevant

times. Defendants’ materially false and/or misleading statements during the Class Period

resulted in Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s securities at

artificially inflated prices, thus causing the damages complained of herein when the truth was

revealed.

LOSS CAUSATION

50. Defendants’ wrongful conduct, as alleged herein, directly and proximately caused the

economic loss suffered by Plaintiff and the Class.



51. During the Class Period, Plaintiff and the Class purchased RSO’s securities at artificially

inflated prices and were damaged thereby. The price of the Company’s securities significantly

declined when the misrepresentations made to the market, and/or the information alleged herein

to have been concealed from the market, and/or the effects thereof, were revealed, causing

investors’ losses.

SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS

52. As alleged herein, Defendants acted with scienter since Defendants knew that the public

documents and statements issued or disseminated in the name of the Company were materially

false and/or misleading; knew that such statements or documents would be issued or

disseminated to the investing public; and knowingly and substantially participated or acquiesced

in the issuance or dissemination of such statements or documents as primary violations of the

federal securities laws. As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, Individual Defendants, by virtue

of their receipt of information reflecting the true facts regarding RSO, their control over, and/or

receipt and/or modification of RSO’s allegedly materially misleading misstatements and/or their

associations with the Company which made him privy to confidential proprietary information

concerning RSO, participated in the fraudulent scheme alleged herein.

APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE
(FRAUD-ON-THE-MARKET DOCTRINE)

53. The market for RSO’s securities was open, well-developed and efficient at all relevant

times. As a result of the materially false and/or misleading statements and/or failures to disclose,

RSO’s securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period. On _______, the

Company’s stock price closed at a Class Period high of _______per share. Plaintiff and other

members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired the Company’s securities relying upon



the integrity of the market price of RSO’s securities and market information relating to RSO, and

have been damaged thereby.

54. During the Class Period, the artificial inflation of RSO’s stock was caused by the material

misrepresentations and/or omissions particularized in this Complaint causing the damages

sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class. As described herein, during the Class

Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and/or misleading

statements about RSO’s business, prospects, and operations. These material misstatements

and/or omissions created an unrealistically positive assessment of RSO and its business,

operations, and prospects, thus causing the price of the Company’s securities to be artificially

inflated at all relevant times, and when disclosed, negatively affected the value of the Company

stock. Defendants’ materially false and/or misleading statements during the Class Period

resulted in Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s securities at such

artificially inflated prices, and each of them has been damaged as a result.

55. At all relevant times, the market for RSO’s securities was an efficient market for the

following reasons, among others:

(a) RSO stock met the requirements for listing, and was listed and actively traded on

the NYSE, a highly efficient and automated market;

(b) As a regulated issuer, RSO filed periodic public reports with the SEC and/or the

NYSE;

(c) RSO regularly communicated with public investors via established market

communication mechanisms, including through regular dissemination of press releases on the

national circuits of major newswire services and through other wide-ranging public disclosures,

such as communications with the financial press and other similar reporting services; and/or



(d) RSO was followed by securities analysts employed by brokerage firms who wrote

reports about the Company, and these reports were distributed to the sales force and certain

customers of their respective brokerage firms. Each of these reports was publicly available and

entered the public marketplace.

56. As a result of the foregoing, the market for RSO’s securities promptly digested current

information regarding RSO from all publicly available sources and reflected such information in

RSO’s stock price. Under these circumstances, all purchasers of RSO’s securities during the

Class Period suffered similar injury through their purchase of RSO’s securities at artificially

inflated prices and a presumption of reliance applies.

57. A Class wide presumption of reliance is also appropriate in this action under the Supreme

Court’s holding in Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 (1972), because

the Class’s claims are, in large part, grounded on Defendants’ material misstatements and/or

omissions. Because this action involves Defendants’ failure to disclose material adverse

information regarding the Company’s business operations and financial prospects—information

that Defendants were obligated to disclose—positive proof of reliance is not a prerequisite to

recovery. All that is necessary is that the facts withheld be material in the sense that a reasonable

investor might have considered them important in making investment decisions. Given the

importance of the Class Period material misstatements and omissions set forth above, that

requirement is satisfied here.

NO SAFE HARBOR

58. The statutory safe harbor provided for forward-looking statements under certain

circumstances does not apply to any of the allegedly false statements pleaded in this Complaint.

The statements alleged to be false and misleading herein all relate to then-existing facts and



conditions. In addition, to the extent certain of the statements alleged to be false may be

characterized as forward looking, they were not identified as “forward-looking statements” when

made and there were no meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that

could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the purportedly forward-looking

statements. In the alternative, to the extent that the statutory safe harbor is determined to apply to

any forward-looking statements pleaded herein, Defendants are liable for those false forward-

looking statements because at the time each of those forward-looking statements was made, the

speaker had actual knowledge that the forward-looking statement was materially false or

misleading, and/or the forward-looking statement was authorized or approved by an executive

officer of RSO who knew that the statement was false when made.

FIRST CLAIM
Violation of Section 10(b) of The Exchange Act and

Rule 10b-5 Promulgated Thereunder
Against All Defendants

59. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if fully set

forth herein.

60. During the Class Period, Defendants carried out a plan, scheme and course of conduct

which was intended to and, throughout the Class Period, did: (i) deceive the investing public,

including Plaintiff and other Class members, as alleged herein; and (ii) cause Plaintiff and other

members of the Class to purchase RSO’s securities at artificially inflated prices. In furtherance

of this unlawful scheme, plan and course of conduct, Defendants, and each defendant, took the

actions set forth herein.

61. Defendants (i) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (ii) made untrue

statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the statements

not misleading; and (iii) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business which operated as a



fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s securities in an effort to maintain

artificially high market prices for RSO’s securities in violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange

Act and Rule 10b-5. All Defendants are sued either as primary participants in the wrongful and

illegal conduct charged herein or as controlling persons as alleged below.

62. Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, by the use, means or

instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged and participated in a

continuous course of conduct to conceal adverse material information about RSO’s financial

well-being and prospects, as specified herein.

63. Defendants employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud, while in possession of

material adverse non-public information and engaged in acts, practices, and a course of conduct

as alleged herein in an effort to assure investors of RSO’s value and performance and continued

substantial growth, which included the making of, or the participation in the making of, untrue

statements of material facts and/or omitting to state material facts necessary in order to make the

statements made about RSO and its business operations and future prospects in light of the

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, as set forth more particularly herein,

and engaged in transactions, practices and a course of business which operated as a fraud and

deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s securities during the Class Period.

64. Each of the Individual Defendants’ primary liability, and controlling person liability,

arises from the following facts: (i) the Individual Defendants were high-level executives and/or

directors at the Company during the Class Period and members of the Company’s management

team or had control thereof; (ii) each of these defendants, by virtue of their responsibilities and

activities as a senior officer and/or director of the Company, was privy to and participated in the

creation, development and reporting of the Company’s internal budgets, plans, projections and/or



reports; (iii) each of these defendants enjoyed significant personal contact and familiarity with

the other defendants and was advised of, and had access to, other members of the Company’s

management team, internal reports and other data and information about the Company’s

finances, operations, and sales at all relevant times; and (iv) each of these defendants was aware

of the Company’s dissemination of information to the investing public which they knew and/or

recklessly disregarded was materially false and misleading.

65. Defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and/or omissions of material

facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth in that they failed to ascertain

and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were available to them. Such defendants’

material misrepresentations and/or omissions were done knowingly or recklessly and for the

purpose and effect of concealing RSO’s financial well-being and prospects from the investing

public and supporting the artificially inflated price of its securities. As demonstrated by

Defendants’ overstatements and/or misstatements of the Company’s business, operations,

financial well-being, and prospects throughout the Class Period, Defendants, if they did not have

actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and/or omissions alleged, were reckless in failing to

obtain such knowledge by deliberately refraining from taking those steps necessary to discover

whether those statements were false or misleading.

66. As a result of the dissemination of the materially false and/or misleading information

and/or failure to disclose material facts, as set forth above, the market price of RSO’s securities

was artificially inflated during the Class Period. In ignorance of the fact that market prices of the

Company’s securities were artificially inflated, and relying directly or indirectly on the false and

misleading statements made by Defendants, or upon the integrity of the market in which the

securities trades, and/or in the absence of material adverse information that was known to or



recklessly disregarded by Defendants, but not disclosed in public statements by Defendants

during the Class Period, Plaintiff and the other members of the Class acquired RSO’s securities

during the Class Period at artificially high prices and were damaged thereby.

67. At the time of said misrepresentations and/or omissions, Plaintiff and other members of

the Class were ignorant of their falsity, and believed them to be true. Had Plaintiff and the other

members of the Class and the marketplace known the truth regarding the problems that RSO was

experiencing, which were not disclosed by Defendants, Plaintiff and other members of the Class

would not have purchased or otherwise acquired their RSO securities, or, if they had acquired

such securities during the Class Period, they would not have done so at the artificially inflated

prices which they paid.

68. By virtue of the foregoing, Defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and

Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.

69. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and the other

members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their respective purchases and sales

of the Company’s securities during the Class Period.

SECOND CLAIM
Violation of Section 20(a) of The Exchange Act

Against the Individual Defendants

70. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if fully set

forth herein.

71. Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of RSO within the meaning of Section

20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein. By virtue of their high-level position, and their

ownership and contractual rights, participation in and/or awareness of the Company’s operations

and/or intimate knowledge of the false financial statements filed by the Company with the SEC



and disseminated to the investing public, Individual Defendants had the power to influence and

control and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision-making of the

Company, including the content and dissemination of the various statements which Plaintiff

contends are false and misleading. Individual Defendants were provided with or had unlimited

access to copies of the Company’s reports, press releases, public filings and other statements

alleged by Plaintiff to be misleading prior to and/or shortly after these statements were issued

and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause the statements to be

corrected.

72. In particular, Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in the day-

to-day operations of the Company and, therefore, are presumed to have had the power to control

or influence the particular transactions giving rise to the securities violations as alleged herein,

and exercised the same.

73. As set forth above, RSO and Individual Defendants each violated Section 10(b) and Rule

10b-5 by their acts and/or omissions as alleged in this Complaint. By virtue of their position as a

controlling person, Individual Defendants is liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange

Act. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and other

members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases of the Company’s

securities during the Class Period.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows:

(a) Determining that this action is a proper class action under Rule 23 of the Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure;



(b) Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiff and the other Class members

against all defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of Defendants’

wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon;

(c) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in this

action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and

(d) Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.

Dated: _____________, 2016

GLANCY PRONGAY & MURRAY LLP

By: ________________________

Lionel Z. Glancy
Robert V. Prongay
Lesley F. Portnoy
1925 Century Park East, Suite 2100
Los Angeles, CA 90067
Telephone: (310) 201-9150
Facsimile: (310) 201-9160

and

LAW OFFICES OF HOWARD G.
SMITH
Howard G. Smith
3070 Bristol Pike, Suite 112
Bensalem, PA 19020
Telephone:  (215) 638-4847
Facsimile:  (215) 638-4867

Attorneys for Plaintiff




